

43759-60

I am exceedingly sorry  
I am obliged to take up my pen to entreat,  
Your Majesty to break to the Queen the unfortunate  
death of the Prince Charles who died here Yesterday  
Morning. In my last Letter I had the Honor to  
acquaint You Sir that she was in very great danger  
The fever continued to increase till about four  
Yesterday Morning when she became to a degree  
and gave signs of her approaching dissolution  
It lasted however till about eight when she

expired without any apparent pain, This Poor Princess as could  
 is a melancholy proof of what consequence it is for  
 Parents, to <sup>take</sup> care to hinder their Children from having  
 any Superstitious ideas about phoetices and spirits &c.  
 For though certainly very sensible she once thought death  
 to nothing else but to having her face told by some rascal  
 when she was at Paris, that she would die at thirty  
 years old and in Child bed, This had continually  
 preyed upon her mind, she had after said before  
 her laying in not only to her servants but also to  
 a lady who came to a visit that during her lying in  
 that she knew she should not recover, she had even  
 gone so far as to have the Cloaths and Linen made  
 in which she thought to be buried and even after her  
 lying in when the Physician had declared her well

was impossible  
 Charles was  
 He bears  
 the same  
 I send  
 Charles  
 to no  
 I shall  
 set her up  
 concluding  
 the Queen  
 in her  
 Harro

Princeps as could be expected, she always insisted upon it it  
 was impossible the Month recover, The situation of Prince  
 Charles is more dreadful than can be depicted, however  
 he bears it with all the resignation possible though at  
 the same time one can see what he suffers inwardly  
 I send your Majesty enclosed two Letters from Prince  
 Charles the one to you Sir, the other to the Queen  
 to notify to you, Himself this terrible misfortune  
 I shall not trouble you a Majesty with a longer  
 Letter upon this melancholy subject I shall therefore  
 conclude, by expressing how much I am afraid that  
 the Queen will be struck by this second misfortune  
 in her family and by signing myself, Sir

Your Majesty's

Hannover Dec. 13

1785

Most Dutiful Son  
and Subject

Frederick

*[Faint, mirrored handwriting, likely bleed-through from the reverse side of the page]*

Brown  
Bredwith

December 13 1705

1705

Brnoe Fredrick

December 20 1705

43761

Sir

I take the earliest opportunity to acknowledge the receipt of Your Majesty's gracious Letter of the 6<sup>th</sup> which arrived here but two days ago, and to acquaint You, Sir, that I have already taken measures towards executing the Commission with which You have been pleased to entrust me. I hope by the next Couriers to be able to acquaint Your Majesty with the news of my having <sup>proceeded</sup> forward.

every thing according to Your wish, till when I shall  
delay saying any thing more upon that subject  
I can not sufficiently express to your Majesty  
how sincerely I felt for the ~~State~~ <sup>State</sup> of <sup>the</sup> ~~Princess~~  
which you must have had about poor Elizabeth  
sheep, and how happy I am to hear that she  
is now out of danger, I am afraid I shall keep  
the post if I add any more I shall therefore conclude  
by entreating you, Sir to give my duty to the  
Queen, and by signing myself, Sir

Your Majesty's

Honoured Dec: 20

1785

most dutiful Son and Subject

Frederick

Sir

Permit me to begg my  
 Letter by returning Your Majesty my most humble  
 Thanks for Your very gracious Letter of the 13<sup>th</sup>  
 by which I am rejoiced to find that Elizabeth  
 goes on so well, and that My three Youngest  
 Sisters have got so favourable a kind of the  
 keeping, so much as to give Your Majesty no  
 uneasiness. I delayed till the departure of  
 this Courer to answer that part of Your  
 Majesty's Letter of the 6<sup>th</sup> which related to Your  
 Intention of Honouring Edward with a Spring

letters and of sending my three youngest Brothers  
 to Lunenburg, As soon as I received it I acquainted  
 General Freytag, with your Majesty's intention  
 who immediately wrote to Colonel Malortie  
 to come hither, I am very sorry to acquaint  
 your Majesty that though Freytag and I have  
 done every thing in our power We have not been  
 able to persuade Malortie to accept of the post  
 which your Majesty offered for him I hope  
 it is not necessary for me to say that it is by  
 no means out of our power and will that  
 Malortie has refused, but out of a persuasion  
 that he is not fit for this employment,  
 We have at the same time looked over the

list of  
 the  
 in Mal  
 none, as  
 Advanta  
 many  
 of it wa  
 English  
 and by  
 with the  
 establish  
 I shoul  
 This  
 to your



Brothers  
 granted  
 Menhoni  
 little  
 ink  
 w  
 beer  
 the post  
 hope  
 us by  
 that  
 superior  
 by  
 the

list of Officers to see if there was any one, whom  
 We could mention to propose to Your Majesty  
 in Maloties' place, but unluckily We could find  
 none, as however Your Majesty's project is too  
 advantageous for them all to be laid aside  
 may I humbly hint to Your Majesty  
 if it would not be possible to place some  
 Englishman at the head of their Establishment  
 and by letting them have Captain Senfinger  
 with him, who having already been in such an  
 Establishment knows every thing which is necessary  
 I should think that everything go on just as well.  
 This however I take the liberty of just submitting  
 to Your Consideration. By the last returns

which I received from the Coldstream. I see  
that Your Majesty has been pleased, in allowing  
the promotion occasioned by the death of  
General Duff to go down in the Regiment  
as far as the Rank of Captain to appoint  
Colonel James Campbell Lieutenant, I hope  
Your Majesty will pardon me if I humbly  
recommend to You for the best <sup>promotion in the Regiment</sup> ~~promotion~~  
Captain Popper, who is now the eldest Lieutenant  
and who has already had the misfortune of being  
wounded twice, the first time when Colonel  
Fane got the company and the second time now.  
Your Majesty will receive by this means the  
account of my having according to Your Majesty's  
order signed the League of Confederation. As for the Cross

43764-5

Secret Article Your Majesty will see that I  
have <sup>only</sup> signed it in general terms, mentioning at the  
same time that I meant to settle every thing  
relating to it with Your Majesty, as however  
I do not mean by this to screen myself from  
any thing which it may be thought right  
for me to do, I shall submit it toally to  
Your Majesty, who, from having so long governed  
the Bishoprick during my Minority, must  
know perfectly its resources, to determine, how  
far I see add any note towards the displeasur  
of the Common Cause. Your Majesty will  
already <sup>have</sup> had enough of this long letter I shall  
therefore conclude by entreating You, Sir

to give any duty to the Queen and by signing  
Myself, Sir,

Your Majesty's

Amsterdam Dec. 30  
1705

Most Dutiful Son  
and Subject

P.S. As I supposed that I wanted  
to express to Your Majesty to know  
Malush's reasons from himself I  
have the Honour to enclose a Letter  
which I desired them to write to me  
in which he has mentioned them all  
As I know how much Your Majesty  
deserves Letters of Compliments I shall  
take this opportunity to congratulate  
You, but upon the solemn of the new Year

Frederick

4376

and to request ~~that~~ <sup>our</sup> joyful prayers that Heaven may  
shower down every blessing which it has in store upon  
Your Majesty's head.

43765

*[Faint, mirrored handwriting, likely bleed-through from the reverse side of the page]*

43762

J. Frederick  
Hanover Dec. 30<sup>th</sup> 1785.

43766-7

Sir

Bernardus de No. beyer

My Letter by returning Your Majesty My most  
humble Thanks for Your two very gracious Letters  
of the 23 and 27, both of which I received last  
Friday. I am exceedingly happy to hear that  
Elizabeth goes on so well and I trust now that  
she will soon be perfectly recovered. I hope Your  
Majesty will be pleased with the accounts You  
will receive of Edward, he was at first rather  
a little sick, but now he seems to have settled  
very well to his studies and to apply himself very

much, He has desired me to intercede with Your  
Majesty in this behalf, in order that he might be  
soon placed in the Army, If I may be allowed to  
give any opinion this favour would be of very great  
use in dispatching him on, to apply himself, and make  
them feel more and more, that his advancement depend  
totally upon his forming himself to be useful to  
his Country. I have been desired by General Freytag,  
and Colonel Tru to send Your Majesty over by  
the Courier, the Model of the Chevaux de Frise which  
are made up of by the Austrians, as well as of a  
new invented Scaling Ladder, they think, that both  
these inventions are exceedingly useful, and hope  
that if they meet with Your Majesty's approbation

I am with  
to both ady  
to hear the  
I confess  
from that  
had about  
this time  
conclude, by  
to the duc  
Hannover  
170



43767

I am well & gratefully be pleased to order that they may  
be both adopted in the church. I am exceedingly happy  
to hear that the Good Bishop of Worcester is so well  
I confess I was afraid that his health had suffered  
from that disagreeable stroke of the Palsy which he  
had about three years ago, I will not keep you longer  
at this time upon your Majesty's business I shall therefore  
conclude, by entreating you Sir, to give my duty  
to the Queen, and by signing myself Sir

Your Majesty's

Hannover Jan<sup>r</sup> 13  
1706

Most Dutiful Son  
and Subject

Frederick

*[Faint, mirrored handwriting, likely bleed-through from the reverse side of the page]*

*From [unclear]*

*Aug. 13 1706*

43768.9

Dear Brother

I should have answered sooner your kind letter by Whitehall if I had not been acquainted by Colonel that I was to expect another letter from you which I have never received, I therefore did not chuse to delay longer writing to you to tell you how happy your letter made me, as I was very long since I had heard from you, but since William left this place I have not received a line from him, though he promised

To be a very exact correspondent, I shall therefore be  
 very much obliged to you, if you will inform me  
 where he is and how he goes on. I am most  
 sincerely grieved for poor Martin's death a letter  
 or a man of some sort was never breathed. During  
 my last journey, I was shown a very fine pelisse  
 of Sable, which a Gentleman wished to part with  
 it was given to him by the Empress of Russia  
 and has never been made up, it is reckoned a very  
 fine of the kind, he asks two hundred and forty £.  
 per il, it is much too fine to be put into a common  
 Surtout which is the only way that I see wear it  
 but it might ~~be~~ like a fur & draped coat  
 I therefore wish to know if you would chuse to  
 have it.

43  
 I will not  
 come I think  
 how happy  
 I am ever

Hannover

AA

43769

I will not trouble you with a longer Letter this  
time I shall therefore conclude, by repeating to you  
How happy I should be to see you, and how sincerely  
I am ever

Dear Brother

One affectionately Yours

Hannover Jan 31  
1786

Frederick

The Duke of York

to

The Prince of Wales

April 27<sup>th</sup> 1707. of date on letter.

Sir

Permit me to return Your Majesty my most humble thanks for your last gracious Letter which I received by the Courier, I am exceedingly sorry that it was not in my power to persuade Colonel Mather to accept of the post which Your Majesty had chosen for Him, but I can assure You Sir, that his refusal was from nothing else but from his fear of not being able to fulfill Your Majesty's expectations. I received yesterday

from Your Majesty's Regency here, the  
 Copies of the Treaty of Association, which You  
 had signed, the very gracious manner in  
 which You have been pleased to answer  
 the proposal which I took the liberty to  
 make to you concerning the next second  
 Article calls for my warmest Acknowledgments  
 Yesterday for the first time the New  
 Colledge of Commerce, which Your Majesty  
 has been pleased to form, was assembled, It  
 has given great pleasure to every Body,  
 Your Majesty's Minister Monsieur de Buzabe  
 has been particularly flattered with the gracious  
 manner, with which You have approved <sup>of every thing</sup> what

was propo  
 when drew  
 afraid  
 Your  
 by conve  
 the Luce

Hannover

1707



43771

was proposed from hence <sup>upon that subject</sup> as it was him alone

who drew up and arranged every thing I am

afraid I have already bespoken too long upon

Your Majesty's business, I shall therefore conclude

by entreating You, Sir to give my duty to

the Queen, and by signing myself, Sir

Your Majesty's

Most Obedient Son  
and Subject

Frederick

Hannover Feb. 3

1706

*Princess Frederick*  
*February 3. 1706*

Sir

The Mepenses who returned last Monday delivered the Great Majesty's gracious Letter of the 14<sup>th</sup> I am exceedingly happy to see by it that Elizabeth continues to grow so well and that the three Youngest are so nearly recovered of the Hooping Cough I hope to be able to give You, Sir, as good an account of Edward next Week, as I did by the Quarterly Mepenses, as I must be so far a

couple of days to Lunenburg next Monday, I  
 think ~~has~~ already been here but the roads  
 have been this whole winter so <sup>had</sup> aponoughly that  
 it has hardly been possible to pass, a Gentleman  
 who came from Lunenburg here about three weeks ago  
 was three days upon the road, now however the  
 frost has let us and has made the roads very passable.  
 I have already sent to Colonel Mallett to come  
 here, in order to speak to him again and to  
 try to persuade him, and your Majesty may be  
 persuaded it shall not be my fault, if I  
 do not succeed. If this is the same weather in  
 England as also here, I am afraid your Majesty's  
 Lumbering will be over for some time it is very  
 extraordinary, that after we have not had any frost

the whole  
 motion.  
 too long  
 therefore  
 duty to  
 Hannon  
 1780

the whole Winter I should have set on with such  
violence. I am afraid I have already wrapped  
too long upon Your Majesty's business I shall  
therefore conclude by begging You to give My  
duty to the Queen.

Yours Sir

Your Majesty's

Warranted Feb. 24  
1706

Most dutiful Son  
and Subject

Frederick

[ ↓ See work on letter ]

Princess Alexandra

November 14 1906

*[Faint, mostly illegible cursive handwriting on a piece of paper pasted onto a larger sheet.]*

Hannover March 17 1786

Sir

In the last Letter which I had the Honor to write to Your Majesty I acquainted You, Sir, that I had already desired Colonel Malherbe to return here, in order to make another trial to persuade him to accept of the post which Your Majesty desired for him, I for a long time despair'd of success, however at last I have persuaded him but only under one condition, which is that Your Majesty would consent to alter the destination of My Brothers from Lunenburg to Göttingen, I hope when Your Majesty is inform'd of the reasons why he so

ardently wishes this alteration, You will not refuse  
 to  
 You must remember, Sir that when You  
 first proposed to send Edward to Göttinge I took  
 the liberty to remonstrate against it, on account of  
 the little discipline which was kept up there.  
 This, I am certain is still the case and must always be  
 so in all German Universities, There is however  
 a very great difference between sending <sup>there</sup> a Young  
 Man of virtues who will not bear much  
 control and <sup>who</sup> can not be treated like a child  
 and Young people of fouls and foibles, who  
 may be still considered as in their Infancy and  
 therefore kept under very exact discipline at Göttinge  
 There is also an objection to Lunenburg which I

only some  
 case, which  
 is by no  
 way, before  
 family  
 and must  
 be  
 attachment  
 is by no  
 means  
 not to give  
 objection is  
 then dis  
 at Göttinge  
 to say that



only remarked, during my <sup>last</sup> stay there the week before  
 last, which is first of all that the State of the Company  
 is by no means what one would wish to give a Young  
 Man, before as they have never had any of the  
 of family then before, they are so excessively suspicious  
 and humble, that one can do them exactly what  
 always one likes, this though a great proof of their  
 never attachment to your Majesty and your family  
 Young, is by no means what one could wish for the  
 education of a Young One, who must be taught  
 not to give way to every whim of his own, Another  
 who objection is that at Lunenburg, there is a great deal  
 and one dissipation and diversion that there can be  
 pleasure at Gettysburg. In point of Masters there is no necessity  
 to say how much Gettysburg has the advantage

With ~~the~~ regard to the enormous and unreasonable demands  
which can <sup>be made of</sup> ~~be made~~ for a ~~ship~~ <sup>ship</sup> when Your Majesty orders  
to send ~~forward~~ <sup>them</sup>, they may be easily avoided if  
You are pleased, Sir, to interrupt ~~me~~, and not the Grand  
Marschal to look out for ~~ships~~, to send ~~me~~ <sup>to</sup> through  
a third person, without any Body suspecting for  
whom it is, when on the contrary of the Grand Marschal  
his the Commission, it may be known and then every  
Body will be upon their Guard. I have now mentioned  
to Your Majesty every thing which Colonel Malherbe  
desires me to say and I hope that when You  
have taken every thing into Consideration You will  
be pleased to consent to this proposal.

I went ~~the~~ <sup>the</sup> week before last as  
I acquainted You Sir in my last Letter to Surinam

43776-7

and staid a few days with my Brother, I find  
him exceedingly grown and improved in many respects  
and if Your Majesty continues in your intention  
of sending him here in the Spring I have no doubt  
that He will turn out exceedingly well, I  
can not help mentioning to you, Sir, the way things  
turns, with what he expressed himself concerning  
the goodness what your Majesty had always  
shewn towards him, and how much he was  
resolved to do every thing in his power to please  
you.

I have been desired by Monsieur de  
Hardenberg Ruzenthan to send to your Majesty  
the enclosed Letter which contains, the sum of

request to receive into your service the youngest  
 Brother who has been brought up to the department  
 of the forests and, who, every Body says has  
 applied himself exceedingly, I also enclose to  
 you Sir, a Letter from Malletier to be as well  
 as a Promise from him concerning the future  
 disposition of my Brothers.

The Wind has been for these  
 three Weeks continually contrary so that  
 six posts from England are still wanting, which  
 I confess is most exceedingly disagreeable to me.

I have the honor to be Sir

Your Majesty's

Most Obedient Son  
 and Subject  
 Frederick

P. S.  
 Courses are  
 Letter of  
 Humble  
 the Queen  
 to your  
 a thing I  
 to ask you  
 like, they  
 may now  
 to be, I  
 what you  
 goodness, an  
 do every thing  
 the forelock

P. S. Soon after I had finished my Letter the Lady  
 Conroy arrived, who delivered to me Your Majesty's gracious  
 Letter of the 24. Permit me to bid to return You, my most  
 humble thanks for Your gracious present of Two sets and  
 the Queens Pictures, Indeed I can not sufficiently express  
 to Your Majesty the pleasure which <sup>they</sup> gave me, It is  
 a thing I had long wished for though I had never ventured  
 to ask You for them, I think them most a precious  
 like, they will certainly make the greatest ornament of  
 my own House, If any thing could enhance their value  
 to me, No the very gracious and affectionate manner <sup>with</sup>  
 which Your <sup>Majesty</sup> have been pleas'd to acquaint me with Your  
 Goodness, and which it shall ever be my first care to  
 do every thing in my power to deserve. I have also received  
 the jewels, which I shall deliver to General Buryton

to be examined as soon as He is recovered, He has been for  
Some days confined to his Chamber with a feverish Cold but  
since Yesterday Morning He has had a violent <sup>par</sup> in His  
Wound, which His Surgeon fears will open again,

Manchester March 18.

All the other Letters which were due  
and likewise arrived with that of the 16<sup>th</sup> I received Yours  
Messrs's generous Letter, for which I permit me to  
return You my most humble Thanks.

J. F. F. F.  
Manchester March 17 1786.  
Received April 3<sup>d</sup> 1786  
of the contents.

43778-9

Hannover April 1786

Sir

The Goodness and affection  
which Your Majesty has been pleas'd upon all occasions  
to shew towards me, makes me not think it right  
to take any step of consequence to myself without  
first of all informing You of it, I therefore take the  
liberty to acquaint You, Sir, that ever since I have  
been old enough to have the management of My  
income in my own hands, I have wish'd to employ  
the money, which has been sav'd, during my minority  
through Your Majesty's gracious care at Osnabruck

in buying an estate in England, for a long time  
my endeavours were fruitless to find a suitable purchase  
but now I hope I have found one in Yorkshire  
which may suit my purpose. I hope Your Majesty  
will approve of this intention of mine, as I think it  
by far the best and safest way of placing my money  
By this Carrier I am informed that Your Majesty  
will receive a humble petition from Captain Hogner  
of the Corps of Engineers, for a small augmentation  
of his pay. May I be humbly entreat Your Majesty  
goodness in his favor, He is a most excellent and deserving  
officer, has served most zealously for above seven and  
twenty years, and has still only the pay of lieutenant  
out of which he is obliged to keep His Mother who



43779

is seventy one Years old, If Your Majesty may think  
it proper to augment the number of payes in the army  
I should I think, that He might receive some small  
augmentation, on account of his having taught both  
my Brother William and me.

Having nothing of consequence to  
add I will not trespass longer upon Your Majesty's  
time. I shall therefore conclude by entreating Your  
Majesty to give my duty to the Queen, and by signing  
myself, Sir

Your Majesty's

Most Obedient Son  
and Subject

Frederick

*[Faint, mirrored handwriting, likely bleed-through from the reverse side of the page]*

*St. Gerlach  
St. Gerlach April 7. 1786.  
received April 14. 1786*

43780 - 1

Hannover April 21. 1706

Sir

I should have already  
acknowledged the receipt of Your Majesty's most gracious  
letter of the 3. if I had not waited for the arrival  
of Colonel Malherbe, in order to be able to inform  
You, but at the same time that I had already set  
every thing to work to execute Your Orders, according to  
Your Majesty's injunctions. I did not mention Your  
intentions to any one Person here, but unluckily, the  
news must have taken wind in England for four  
Hours after the Couriers arriv'd, every Body knew it

town and upon my enquiring, by whom this report was  
 spread that the Secretaries of the Regency had received letters  
 from England concerning it. I did not however chuse to  
 speak about it till I had seen Colonel Malherbe  
 who arrived on Monday, after we had consulted together  
 we thought it best, as the great advantage, which would  
 have been gained by success was already lost to mention  
 it to those who, could be of most use in arranging everything  
 I therefore told it to the Grand Marshal and to General  
 Wallmoden. I shall by the Quarterly Messanger who  
 sets off next Friday send your Majesty's Colonel  
 Malherbes proposals, as well as the other papers  
 concerning every arrangement to be taken here, if and  
 shall then beg your Majesty to <sup>acquaint</sup> send your different

Colledges  
 as of course  
 orders from  
 Workmen  
 it will be  
 by which  
 after the  
 humble  
 You have  
 calls for  
 very cer.  
 employed.

Colleges with your intention of sending My Brothers several  
 letters as of course many things can not be done, without particular  
 orders from Yourself. With regard to the Disruption The  
 Workmen have already begun to repair it, and I believe, that  
 it will be finished about Your Majesty's Birthday.

Since I have wrote thus for the Paper which  
 by which I have received, Your Majesty's gracious letter  
 of the 14<sup>th</sup> for which they leave to return my most  
 humble thanks, The very gracious manner, with which  
 You have been pleased to agree to poor Hargreaves request  
 calls for my warmest acknowledgements, and I am  
 very certain that Your Majesty's Country can not be  
 employed, on a person who deserves it more than this

I will not stop longer upon Yours

His Majesty's pleasure, I shall therefore conclude, by begging  
You will be give my Duty to the Queen and by signing  
myself, Sir

Your Majesty's

Most dutifull son  
and Subject

Frederick

From Frederick  
April 21. 1706

Prince Frederick  
April 20. 1706

43782 - 3

Hannover April 20 1706

Sir

I have the honor to send  
to your Majesty as I mentioned in my last letter  
a report from Colonel Melcher of different  
arrangements which have been already taken and  
which I hope will meet with your Majesty's  
approbation as however the only <sup>from Göttingen</sup> ~~only~~ letter  
on Tuesday evening. It has been totally out of the  
power to put every thing upon paper which is  
necessary to be laid before your Majesty I  
shall therefore take the first opportunity to send  
them <sup>off</sup> as soon as he has finished, particularly some

points which relate ~~to~~ to Göttingen alone  
 and which he thinks it necessary to lay before  
 Your Majesty and to offer Your orders about  
 as I had the honor to mention in my last letter  
 I have consulted the Grand Marshal and Count  
 Hallmader <sup>concerning</sup> the different arrangements to  
 be taken in these respective departments, and  
 the Grand Marshal he has acquainted me  
 that he has sent every thing concerning the Corps  
 directly to Your Majesty with what I have no  
 doubt that you will be pleased, General Wallmoden  
 with whom I have spoken concerning the Corps  
 which is necessary to be sent to Göttingen, and what  
 at least ~~is~~ consist of a set of coach horses and

of 12 Sa  
 as small  
 to know  
 Captain  
 he  
 them, he  
 Majesty  
 his name  
 the incl  
 here by  
 present  
 that, the  
 or the  
 your O



Prince Frederick

April 20. 1706

43783

of 12 Saddle Corps, ~~including~~ <sup>including</sup> ~~some~~ Corps, which is  
as small a number as I think can be <sup>sent</sup> ~~sent~~, under  
the command of my three Brothers, Colonel Melbourn,  
Captain de la Roche and the other Gentlemen whom I  
thought proper to thought necessary to place about  
them, has assured me that it is impossible for your  
Majesty's Matters to furnish such a number. He  
has therefore according to my desire given me  
the enclosed List of your Majesty's Saddle Corps  
as they are together with a Memorandum concerning their  
present destination. It is however to be remarked  
that, the less well, as indeed he could not reckon  
on the number the Corps of these four & five  
years old which are never fit to be made any

deal up of all they are papered for till they  
are not come to their full strength, I think it right  
to mention that, as Your Majesty will see by the lists  
that there are only four Saddle Horses left which are  
good for any thing and which are all disposed of as  
far as I seldom or never <sup>take advantage</sup> ~~break up~~ of the ~~stomach~~  
which You have been pleas'd to give me to make up  
of Your Stables, with regard to the Saddle Horses  
for the Coach Horses I always make up of them, But  
My Gentleman, do, so that of these <sup>four</sup> ~~are~~ ~~sent~~ away  
there is nothing left either for them or for the Gentlemen  
of Your Majesty's Stables who have also, should as it  
is very right the liberty of riding as ever for me  
if by chance I wanted them, It therefore now depends  
upon Your Majesty to determine, whether You

would not at once order the Stable Department then  
to provide the necessary Horses. I hope Your Majesty  
will pardon my hinting to You if it would not be  
necessary to disengage the different <sup>Departments</sup> Colleges here with  
Your intention of removing Edward here, and of sending  
My Younger Brothers to Göttingen, as there are still  
a great many arrangements to be made which can  
not be done till the Departments have received Your  
Majesty's orders, One thing I must mention  
has desired me to add concerning the time of My  
Younger Brothers coming over, Your Majesty will  
see by the Grand Marshal's report concerning the  
House, that every thing will be ready for their reception  
at Göttingen at the latter end of June, We therefore  
wishes therefore humbly to submit it to Your Majesty

1878  
4378  
if it would not be better instead of sending them over  
immediately after your Birthday, to delay it till  
towards the twentieth of June, when every thing will  
be compleatly ready at Göttingen for their reception  
So that there will be no necessity to make them stop  
first at the Hague, which <sup>would</sup> only cause a considerable  
expence, and do them no good as they would be less  
desirous of applying themselves after having for some  
time led an idle life. With regard to Edwards coming  
whether the Duchess of York will be ready for her reception  
about your Majesty's Birthday so that if <sup>by your</sup> ~~you~~  
would be pleased to order them to prepare for their  
coming better, I believe it would be better not to  
determine the exact day but only to say as soon as  
every thing is ready for the inworkmen here and so

remarks  
any letter  
conceal  
an flower  
liberty to  
give you  
soman is  
when I go  
I suppose  
York, a  
which will  
I thought  
said upon  
make up  
He will

remarkably slow that it is impossible to mention with  
 any certainty when every thing will be finished, and I  
 consequently inform them when ever every thing is proposed, than  
 an however one or two things which I must take the  
 liberty to mention to Your Majesty and to desire You to  
 give Your orders, <sup>about</sup> ~~about~~, During the time that I yet  
 remain in the Castle of Louisa We shall dine together, but  
 when I go into my own House which will be about Wednesday  
 I suppose, that he will then have his table at the Ducal  
 Court, and that the Gentlemen of Your Majesty's Most  
 Excellent will do the Honors of it, With regard to the Houses  
 I must confess to Your Majesty that he is a little  
 cold upon this subject and that if he is allowed to  
 make up indifferently of all the Houses in the State  
 he will do no good to many of them, I <sup>shall</sup> ~~think~~ therefore

humbly propose to Your Majesty without saying any thing  
whatsoever to them, to order the Gentlemen of the Department  
of the Males to set apart a bit of each Horse and a certain  
number of Saddle Horses for the use, and not to let them  
make use of the rest. As Edward is now coming here, and as  
Wenzelstein assures <sup>me</sup> that he has every reason to be pleas'd  
with Lieutenant Plater's Conduct, I must take the liberty  
to ask Your Majesty if You would not be pleas'd to  
give them the rank of Captains, as otherwise it would make  
a great many difficulties, if the 100 Lieutenants was to rise  
<sup>without distinction</sup>  
then and some of the Captains have the same precedence.

I am affraid I have already trifled  
too long upon Your Majesty's patience by this long  
talk, but it was out of my power to do otherwise in  
order to explain fully to Your Majesty in what manner

43786

3

I had executed the Commission which You have been  
pleas'd to entrust me with. I enclose the Reports  
which General Foyles has given me of the Finland  
which Your Majesty did me the honor to send me

and

I am, Sir

Your Majesty's

Most Obedient Servant

P. S. Since I have done

my duty Colonel Walker

has sent me <sup>the enclosed</sup> papers which he has

drawn up concerning many things which

he wanted to lay before Your Majesty, not knowing in what

manner to send it, he has drawn it up in the style of an

application from Your Majesty to Him, which he hopes

may not be disagreeable to Your Majesty.

Frederick

*[Faint, illegible handwritten text on lined paper, possibly a letter or document.]*



Hannover May 20. 1706

Sir

I have to acknowledge the receipt of Your Majesty's most very gracious Letters of the 20, and 9, which came safely to my hands. I have acquainted Colonel Malherbe with the very gracious manner with which Your Majesty has been pleased to approve of every thing which he has proposed concerning my Brothers, and he feels himself highly flattered with Your Goodness. I enclose to Your Majesty the proposal, which according to Your orders he has made for the Gentlemen, which he wishes should be placed about ~~them~~ <sup>my Brothers</sup> besides Captain Longfellow I hope Your Majesty will not disapprove of the number which he mentions, as certainly the Attendance

would be very hard upon them if they were given. With  
 regard to the two footmen who are to act as *Interpreters* *Langues*  
 The Grand Marshal, as I understand had pitched upon  
 one of these who was with me called Theiler and would have  
 a *copy* *Guise* likewise, (as certainly there is no objection to this  
 on the contrary, the other who he was with me, attended in  
 as my servant, and I can not sufficiently say how attentive  
 and handy he was,) the only reason which made them *hesitate*  
 about <sup>choosing them</sup> ~~them~~ was, because he has a wife and four or five  
 children and he did not know whether it would not be  
 very inconvenient to them, I will however acquaint them  
 as soon as he returns with Your Majesty's orders, and  
 I can not sufficiently express to You, Sir, how rejoiced  
 I am at Your Goodness in having conferred the *Willet*  
 Dupleix upon General Grenville, and I am certain

that Your  
 & Weather  
 to Your  
 Letter to  
 sent it to  
 Secrecy to  
 some prop  
 Your a May  
 confederat  
 This is a  
 very necess  
 out it will  
 Your ab  
 by embac

That Your Majesty's favor could not have been shown to  
 Laquais & Wertheis paper, or how, who is more sincerely attached  
 to Your Majesty's Person. I have the Honor also to enclose  
 a Letter to Your Majesty from the Prince of Courpne who  
 sent it to me and desired me to convey it with all  
 the Secrecy to You, Sir, He told me in general that it contained  
 some proposals, which he took the Liberty to make to  
 Your Majesty in order to induce the Princes of the  
 Confederation to form a more decided plan of defence  
 This is a reason which I don't say is unnecessary  
 very necessary to be taken and so, If the War once breaks  
 out it will be much too late then to take any engagements

I have already trespass'd too long upon  
 Your Majesty's patience I shall therefore conclude  
 by entreating You Sir to give my Duty to the Queen

and by signing myself, Sir

Your Majesty's

Most Obedient Son  
and Subject

Frederick

43789 90

Hannover May 23 1786

Sir

Take the earliest opportunity  
to acquaint Your Majesty that I informed Monsieur de  
Wangenheim as the Grand Marshal is still absent of Your  
~~intention~~ <sup>intention</sup> that the two Footmen who are destined to be about  
My Youngest Brothers, as ~~Armand~~ Lagnacien should be sent  
to England by the first post after Your Majesty's Birthday  
and at the same time tell what you were pleased to do  
concerning Guepail, He gave me the same answer that  
the Grand Marshal would have done if it had not  
been on account of his having a Wife and five or six Children

<sup>made</sup>  
 and besides that Colonel Mathews had written that one  
 of the Justices should be allowed to drop his, which I preferred  
 did not do, that therefore the Grand Council had chosen  
 another whose name is such, <sup>as</sup> I thought that I had rather  
 even voted, I did not think myself at liberty to allow the  
 arrangements, which have been taken, but said that I would  
 immediately write to Your Majesty to acquaint you with  
 them and to ask your orders, If Your Majesty <sup>will</sup> be pleased  
 however that I should be allowed to be easily allowed  
 otherwise the other has been sent out with the post within  
 of June. Your Colonel Wangerheim informing me that  
 Your Majesty had acquainted Edward with your  
 intention <sup>that he should</sup> of his coming here, as soon as every thing  
 was ready for the reception, ~~inquired of the~~

Sir John Wangerheim,  
 At the end of this  
 come here on the  
 the return of the  
 your name to the  
 I am

43790

St. John's, who told me that every thing would be perfectly done  
at the end of this week, I therefore wrote to Edward that he should  
come here on the 30 as he would have an opportunity to see  
the review of the Guards and of Linings Regiment and would  
have time to make some arrangements before the 1st of the day

I am, Sir

Your Majesty's

Most Obedient Son  
and Subject

Frederick

*[Faint, mirrored handwriting, likely bleed-through from the reverse side of the page]*

*From Brunswick*  
*May 20. 1706*



Hannover May 29 1786

Sir

The Quarterly Messengers  
 who arrived here on Friday delivered into my Hands  
 Your Majesty's most gracious Letter of the 19 together  
 with the packet for Colonel Malherbe which I gave  
 myself to them. I never saw a person more affected than  
 he was by the very gracious Letter, which accompanied  
 the Instructions, He has desired me to express to Your  
 Majesty his deepest acknowledgements for Your Condescension  
 and to <sup>transmit</sup> ~~send~~ the enclosed Letter. I acquainted Your Majesty  
 in my last Letter that I had proposed to come here  
 before the Birthday, but Colonel Wenzelheim has wrote

word that it is totally impossible as they have still to  
make arrangements to take before they can leave Lunenburg  
I therefore suppose that it will certainly be the 22 or 24  
before they can arrive here. I received last Friday a very  
handsome present of two beautiful Horses from the  
King of Ompia, accompanied by a most gracious and  
my most affectionate letter. I confess that it does not  
a little flatter me, that this great Man, though so near his  
end, should do me the honor to distinguish me so much.  
I know that it does not become me to trouble Your  
Majesty with recommendations of persons who wish to  
enter into Your Service, and it has always been my  
intention to avoid it, but I hope Your Majesty will  
pardon me if I this once take the liberty to recommend to  
you, Young Count Wallroder the General's eldest son

43792  
This and the  
The  
relates to  
say, there is  
or of whom the  
At the same  
of Your Majesty  
at present  
Majesty to go  
but

43792

This and the Father's best and desire is to place him in Your Majesty's  
service, He has particularly applied himself to every thing which  
relates to Finance, and by what all the Professors at Göttingen  
say, there is no young Person who has applied himself more  
or of whom there can be greater expectations formed than of him  
At the same time, He certainly will be by far the richest  
of Your Majesty's German Subjects.

I will not trouble You, Sir, with a longer Letter  
at present I shall therefore conclude by entreating Your  
Majesty to give my Duty to the Queen and by signing myself  
Sir

Your Majesty's

Most Obedient Son  
and Subject

Frederick

*[Faint, mirrored handwriting, likely bleed-through from the reverse side of the page]*

Anna Greenwood  
May 29. 1706

The Duke of York  
9<sup>th</sup> June 1786

43793-4

Hannover June 9 1786

Sir

I take the opportunity of  
the Couriers setting off to acknowledge the receipt of  
Your Majesty's two gracious Letters of the 26 and 30  
which came safely to my Hand, as Colonel Walker  
was already returned to Newbourg to settle his Affairs  
I was obliged to send for them, immediately, and have  
acquainted him, with Your Majesty's having approved  
of Lieutenant Wflars being placed about My  
Brothers as well as of Monsieur Patters, being appointed  
Regulator, but that I thought the other two Officers

See Young, I had a long conference with Malherbe about it  
 well as with General Guittaz, but am very sorry to acquaint  
 Your Majesty that at this present moment we know of no  
 us know of any person whatsoever, who can be proposed  
 to Your Majesty in their place, We have also enquired about  
 the real ages of the two Officers, and have found that Malherbe  
 was mistaken, and had put them down younger than they  
 really are. We therefore thought it advisable that Malherbe  
 should put down the reasons why he proposed these two  
 Gentlemen in a fuller manner, and that I should send  
 it enclosed to Your Majesty for Your perusal, and that We  
 should wait for Your decision, and that in the mean  
 time Colonel Malherbe should employ himself in enquiring  
 if We could find out any other persons who can be depended

upon, to  
 continue the  
 is exceeding  
 two feet  
 they shou  
 not disapp  
 but of fe  
 Majesty  
 the cold  
 will do  
 may lac  
 arrived

upon, to be proposed to Your Majesty in case You should still  
 continue to disapprove of these two. As the Dutch post Wagon  
 is exceedingly irregular It was judged safer to make the  
 two postmen set off on the 4<sup>th</sup> in order to be then sure that  
 they should come in time, I hope Your Majesty will  
 not disapprove of this arrangement as it makes the difference  
 but of four days.

I am exceedingly happy to hear that Your  
 Majesty is so well pleased with the appearance of  
 the Coldstream, and have no doubt that General Dalrymple  
 will do the utmost to correct every little defect which  
 may have happened at their exercise before Your Majesty.

Since I have wrote thus for the post is  
 arrived and has brought me Your Majesty's gracious letter

of the 2<sup>d</sup> by which I learn that You have been pleased  
to make a new Statute in the Order of the Garter. By  
I am certain that Edward will be overjoyed at receiving  
his Commissions and the Garter, and thus I am sure will  
make him recover his spirits, which I believe are a little  
laid down at leaving Lunenburg, This is the true reason I  
believe why Wangerheim <sup>expressed</sup> wrote to your Majesty Edward's  
wish to be allowed to go sometimes to Lunenburg. And that  
I believe Wangerheim approved of it, but that Edward begged  
them so hard to write, that without quarrelling with him  
Wangerheim did not know how to refuse, If therefore I may  
be allowed to say your Majesty has judged perfectly  
right in not giving any answer whatsoever. As I know how  
little your Majesty likes Compliments I therefore did not  
choose to trouble you Sir, with a Letter of answer that I



43795

I hope therefore Your Majesty will allow me to take  
this opportunity to express to You Sir, My most  
sincere and hearty Congratulations upon that you may  
see many and happy returns of that day, that Heaven  
may shower down its choicest Blessings upon Your  
Majesty's Head, on the continual prayers of Sir,

Your Majesty's

Most Obedient  
and Subject

Frederick



Prince Frederick

June 13<sup>th</sup> 1706

43796

Hannover June 13. 1706

Sir

I take the earliest opportunity  
to acknowledge the receipt of Your Majesty's gracious letter  
of the 6, together with the different packets &c. which  
accompanied it, and which I shall take the greatest  
care of. With regard to the ceremony of presenting Edward  
with the order of the Garter, which Your Majesty has  
been pleased to entrust to me, I shall enquire if there  
be any precedents here, of what has been done on former  
occasions, for if I am not much mistaken the late Lord  
of Caput received the Garter here, if there is not I shall  
erroneously do the best of my judgement but I shall before  
hand beg Your Majesty's pardon if it is not perfectly

as it might be so I am by no means concerned in  
any ceremonies whatsoever. Edward will arrive tomorrow  
evening.

Having troubled Your Majesty so lately with  
a long letter I shall not add more at present except  
to entreat You, Sir, to give my Duty to the Queen

I am Sir

Your Majesty's

Your Most Obedient Son  
and Subject

Frederick

Hammer June 20. 1726

Sir

I am now to acquaint Your Majesty with the Ceremony which with the Assistance of the Great Marshal who luckily returned the night before, I settled according to Your Orders, for the inauguration of My Brother Edward, <sup>the King</sup> having looked back in the Old Books of the County, there was found no precedent to be followed to go by, We therefore were obliged to arrange it as well as we could; We thought that such a Ceremony could not be properly done any where but in one of the Prince's Chambers and before Your Majesty's Throne. It was therefore done in the following manner, As soon as every Body was

arrived, Prince Ernest with all the Gentlemen of the Court  
went and conducted Edward from another Apartment where  
He had been previously stowed into, to the Private Chamber  
where after He had made three bows He knelt down before  
Your Majesty's Throne, I who till then had stood on one side of the other  
of the Throne then went up to Him and the Chief Chamberlain  
brought for the occasion upon a Cushion I embraced them  
with them, after which He made again three Bows  
to the Throne, and was seconded in the same manner  
back to the other Apartment. The Grand Marshal  
asked my opinion of upon this occasion there might be  
to be two Posts of the Horse Guards at the Door of the  
Chamber, I answered him that I had no orders to happen  
to give, but advised them to speak to General Walpole  
after having talked the point over together they

437  
determined  
the Prince  
and went  
the Door  
of the other  
side of  
will grace  
ignorance  
delighted  
and second  
to having  
succeeded  
some time  
not refuse  
up  
then

the Court determined, that the Ceremony was to be performed at  
 the Palace Chamber, and before the Throne, it would be  
 convenient if there was not a double Staff of Honour Guards at  
 the Door, I have now given Your Majesty an exact account  
 of the whole Ceremony, which I hope will meet with  
 Your approbation, If it does not I trust Your Majesty  
 will graciously be pleased to lay the fault to my total  
 ignorance on such Subjects. Edward Jones exceedingly  
 delighted at having received the Commission and the Order  
 and seems upon the whole to be perfectly well reconcil'd  
 to having left Denmark, He has however <sup>been</sup> begged  
 of the King to entreat Your Majesty to permit him  
 sometimes to go for a few days to Denmark, which  
 he does not refuse to mention this to You Sir, for fear of making  
 any mistake that confidence in the whole the certainty of

present her, and what I think may be of very great use  
of However Your Majesty does not chuse to grant the request  
being I by You, Sir, just as one of Your Letters to me to <sup>enquire</sup> ~~know~~  
~~that~~ but that you did not chuse it because you thought  
it would damage the Trade, this I shall be all to send to them  
and I will show them that I have wrote to Your Majesty as  
I promised them. Since I have wrote them for the present  
I am and has brought me Your Majesty's gracious  
Letter of the 12, in which you inquire what one will send  
having settled the 20 as the day for my Brothers setting  
out and at the same time will have given the  
necessary orders to the different Departments here.  
I shall certainly obey Your Majesty's commands  
going to receive my Brothers at Madrid, May I be content  
upon to give my Duty to the Queen

P.S. I think of my Duty I am Sir  
in enquire I am Sir, shall this morning, I am Sir, I am Sir  
I had advised from the King's Pleasure in what to give me to send  
Duke's Commission to P. D. M., The set out about two hours  
with the King's Pleasure

Most Dutifull Son  
my Subject  
Robert



Manchester June 30 1788

Sir

I take the opportunity of  
 the departure of the Courier this evening to acknowledge  
 the receipt of Your Majesty's gracious Letter of the 22<sup>nd</sup>  
 as well as of the 23<sup>rd</sup>. I have acquainted Colonel  
 Malbaster, with Your Majesty's having declined  
 nominating the two Young Officers whom he had  
 proposed to be placed about My Brothers, he will  
 therefore take care according to Your Majesty's permission  
 to look out for at least one more whom he can be sure  
 of and will then propose them humbly for Your  
 approbation as really the duty would be infinitely  
 too hard for three. I am with sufficient respect

to Your Majesty my most humble thanks for  
the very gracious offer which You have been pleased  
to make to me of the Command of the Guards, <sup>and of</sup>  
what will be vacant by Prince Charles leaving <sup>off</sup>  
for this Expedition. It certainly is a most flattering mark  
of Your Majesty's affection and confidence in me, and  
however, it is a step of the very greatest consequence to  
me I trust Your Majesty will not be displeas'd  
with me, if I beg leave to delay a few days giving  
You any Answer, in order that I may have time to  
consider it fully over. I have acquainted the Grand  
Seneschall with Your Majesty's gracious proposal to the  
Major Mott Lieut of the Sea Greyhound, and he has  
ordered a Schooner to set off with the Baylye  
Wagon to day for Stads in order to bring them here

I am  
being  
for the  
in order  
not that  
these  
the home  
My  
Your  
you, I  
myself  
P.S. I  
Paper for  
I think  
Majesty

43800

I am very curious to see them and have no doubt of them  
 being <sup>perfectly</sup> excellent. I shall myself set off this week  
 in order to wait for My Brothers arrival, which I can  
 not think will be long as the Wind has been for  
 these two days exceedingly fair. As I shall do myself  
 the honor to wait to Your Majesty again as soon as  
 My Brothers are arriv'd I will keep you longer upon  
 your patience I shall therefore conclude by entreating  
 you, Sir, to give my Duty to the Queen and by signing  
 myself,

Sir

Your Majesty's

P.S. I have just received the enclosed  
 Papers from Colonel Mollathurst which I must deliver  
 I think it my Duty to lay before Your  
 Majesty

Most Obedient Son  
 and Subject

Frederick

*[Faint, illegible cursive handwriting on aged paper]*

Brown  
Green  
Jan 20. 1706

Prince Frederick

July 4. 1706

43801

Hannover July 4 1706

Sir

Make the earliest opportunity  
to request Your Majesty that My Brothers could leave  
at Stade on Saturday Morning at 10 o'Clock, they might  
have arrived the night before, but having met with a great  
of Wind at the Entrance of the Elbe they were obliged  
to shorten Sail and could not get up to Stade till  
next morning, It is not necessary to say how glad I  
was to see them, I thought them here yesterday, and  
according to Your Majesty's orders shall make them  
set off for Göttingen on Thursday, though I should  
have liked to have kept them longer with me, My  
present I am a great deal occupied in showing them

every thing worth seeing here. General Grenville would  
have written to your Majesty this post but as I acquainted  
him that I should write he refused himself for next  
post, I believe I have repeated your Majesty's words  
regard of the Grey Hounds as I understood from General  
Grenville that your Majesty heard them for he  
they are arrived in excellent good condition and seem  
to be of a very fine breed. As I am so much taken  
up with my Brothers, your Majesty will excuse  
my adding any thing further except that I am

I am

Your Majesty's

Indefatigable  
and Subject

Frederick

The Duke of York AA  
to  
The Prince of Wales

July 11. 1786.

43802

Hannover July 11 1786

Dear Brother

I can not refuse myself  
the pleasure of troubling you with a few lines to return  
you many thanks for the two beautiful ~~herpes~~  
you have been so good as to send me over. It is a very  
great pity that Foxhunters knees are broke  
as I never saw a finer one, As for the mount I  
mean that he should carry one many a good day's sport  
this autumn. Grenville has delivered me your kind  
message and Lennox has written the word that you meant  
to write to me soon. It is not necessary for me to say  
how happy your letters make me, though of late I have

not had the pleasure of receiving many. I suppose that  
by this time all the Amusements of London are over and  
that you are gone down to Brighton. I can not  
expect any news from hence, which can in the least interrupt  
you, I shall therefore not trespass longer upon your  
patience ~~but~~ shall conclude by assuring you that  
Sincerely I am ever

Dear Brother

Truly Affectionately Yours

Fredrick